IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO.: SC02-2193 DCA case no.: 5D01-1913

DANIEL BURRIS,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD E. DORAN ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #618550

WESLEY HEIDT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #773026 FIFTH FLOOR 444 SEABREEZE BLVD. DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990/FAX 238-4997

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The State charged the Defendant with robbery with a deadly weapon specifically alleging that the Defendant "did use a deadly weapon, to-wit: an automobile." (R 47). The defense filed a motion to dismiss in the trial court submitting that the information should be dismissed because it did not charge the Defendant with "carrying" the weapon. (R 56-59). The trial court denied the defense's motion to dismiss, and the Defendant pled nolo contendere while reserving the right to appeal the denial of his motion. (R 65-68).

The facts which led to the charges included the Defendant driving by the victim in his pick-up truck and grabbing the victim's purse. (R 41). The force and power of the truck knocked the victim to the ground. (R 41). Eventually, the victim testified at the sentencing hearing detailing the attack and her injuries. She stated

Okay. I was robbed and I actually dream how it was done, I was dragged for several feet to the point until my knees got injured and it took me four months to be able to walk again. I had to go under some therapy, take some medication, it changed my life completely. There's still many things that I cannot do.

I was very active, I'm a volunteer coach. I can't do that at this point because my knees are still in point, they're still swollen to some point.

I do hope that the court would give this man the time he needs to actually rehabilitate because I don't wish this to be done again to anybody. I mean it was very horrendous, it has affected my family, my kids, my husband. ... (R 29-30).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal reviewed the issue and reversed. See Burris v. State, 825 So. 2d 1034 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002). In its opinion the Fifth District Court of Appeal reasoned that an automobile could not be "carried" and therefore a vehicle could not qualify as a deadly weapon under the robbery statute regardless of how it was used. The Fifth District Court of Appeal certified conflict with the cases of Nation v. State, 668 So. 2d 284 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), and Jackson v. State, 662 So. 2d 1369 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The fact that a robbery was committed by the Respondent in this case is undisputed. The only issue is whether an automobile can qualify as a deadly weapon under the robbery statute. It is the State's position that such an interpretation of the robbery statute clearly reflects the legislature's intent to increase the possible punishment for those who use a deadly weapon like a vehicle to help them commit their crime.

ARGUMENT

POINT OF LAW

WHETHER AN AUTOMOBILE WHEN FOUND TO HAVE BEEN USED AS A DEADLY WEAPON BY THE JURY QUALIFIES AS SUCH UNDER THE ROBBERY STATUTE.

The issue in this case is whether an automobile can ever be used as a weapon under the robbery statute. The First District Court of Appeal has twice addressed this issue and found that an automobile can qualify as a weapon; however, in the instant case the Fifth District Court of Appeal expressly disagreed with the First District Court of Appeal's decisions. It is the position of the State that an automobile does qualify as a weapon depending on how it is used in a particular case, that such an issue is a factual one to be submitted to the jury, and that the Fifth District Court of Appeal was incorrect in deciding that as a matter of law a vehicle can never so qualify.

The robbery statute provides

(2)(a) If in the course of committing the robbery the offender carried a firearm or other deadly weapon, then the robbery is a felony of the first degree...

Section 812.13, Fla. Stat. (2000). As already noted, the First District Court of Appeal reviewed this issue and specifically decided that an automobile could qualify as being able to be "carried" as a weapon. The First District Court of Appeal wrote in the case of <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 662 So. 2d 1369 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995):

We agree with the trial court that the intended meaning of the work "carry," as used in section 812.13(2)(a), must be sought by use of logic and common sense. The verb "carry" has many meanings. One of the principal meanings ascribed to it is "to wear, hold, or have around one," in the sense of possessing. The Random House Dictionary of the English Language 319 (2d ed. 1987) (unabridged). We are of the opinion that ascribing such a meaning to "carry," as used in section 812.13(2)(a), is perfectly consistent with the obvious intent behind that statutory provision. . . .

<u>Id</u>. at 1371-72. <u>See also Nation v. State</u>, 668 So. 2d 284 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal in the instant case recognized that the First District Court of Appeal interpreted the statute differently writing:

> While there are, as <u>Jackson</u> observes, some definitions of the word "carry," that might encompass Burris's use of his automobile in this case,

Burris, 825 So. 2d at 1037. Nonetheless, the Fifth District Court of Appeal took a much more restrictive view of the word "carry" and decided that Burris could not have carried the motor vehicle as required by the robbery statute.

A review of some of the facts of the instant case would assist understanding how and why automobile should qualify as a weapon during a robbery when so used. The arrest report shows that the Defendant drove by in his pickup truck and grabbed the

1

victim's purse. (R 41). The force and power of the truck knocked the victim off of her feet. (R 41). The victim to this robbery testified at the sentencing hearing and explained how she was dragged by the Defendant's car thus causing all her injuries. (R 30). She stated

Okay. I was robbed and I actually dream how it was done, I was dragged for several feet to the point until my knees got injured and it took me four months to be able to walk again. I had to go under some therapy, take some medication, it changed my life completely. There's still many things that I cannot do.

I was very active, I'm a volunteer coach. I can't do that at this point because my knees are still in pain, they're still swollen to some point.

I do hope that the court would give this man the time he needs to actually rehabilitate because I don't wish this to be done again to anybody. I mean it was very horrendous, it has affected my family, my kids, my husband. So I really do hope that the time that the State is asking is at least what he should get and I do hope that it will help him to get rehabilitated during that point.

. . .

(R 29-30).

The standard jury instructions for robbery define "deadly weapon" as a weapon which is used or threatened to be used in a way likely to produce death or great bodily harm. This definition is consistent with this Court's holding in the case of Houck v. State, 652 So. 2d 359 (Fla. 1995) (Houck originated in the Fifth District Court of Appeal). The issue in Houck dealt with whether pavement could qualify as a weapon. This Court ruled that it could not as a matter of law. The analysis

of this Court included a review of the definition of weapon as found in the dictionary. This Court noted that a weapon was an "instrument of attack..." or "a means used to ... defeat another." Houck, 652 So. 2d at 360. This Court also made reference to pavement as being a "passive object". Id. The Fifth District Court's opinion referred to pavement as "an immovable structure that is incapable of being personally possessed, handled, or wielded in the manner of a dirk (knife), club or chemical device." Houck v. State, 634 So. 2d 180, 182 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994).

Obviously, a car is capable of being owned and possessed. Furthermore, it is definitely not a "passive object", and it is quite capable of moving and being used as a means to attack another. In fact, that is exactly what occurred in this case. The automobile was not being used as simply a conveyance to transport a defendant from the scene of the crime. Instead, it was used as a means to attack increasing substantially the force, violence, assault or putting in fear that is at the center of committing a robbery with a deadly weapon.

Case law clearly recognizes that an automobile can be a deadly weapon. See J.C.M. v. State, 375 So. 2d 873 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979); McCullers v. State, 206 So. 2d 30 (Fla. 4th DCA), cert. denied, 210 So. 2d 868 (Fla. 1968); Williamson v. State, 92 Fla. 980, 111 So. 124 (1926); see also Ingram v. Pettit, 340 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1976), (recognizing that an automobile is by its very nature a dangerous instrumentality). In its opinion the Fifth

District Court of Appeal accepts the fact that an automobile can be a deadly weapon citing to section 775.087 of the Florida Statutes, and it also accepts the fact that "[t]here is no question that Burris used his automobile in the course of committing the robbery." <u>Burris</u>, 825 So. 2d at 1035. However, the opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal seems to put form over substance, and in its opinion decides that as a matter of law an automobile can never qualify as a weapon under the robbery statute regardless of how it is used.

The robbery statute contains increased enhancements based upon the carrying of a weapon or deadly weapon. Some objects by their very nature are deadly weapons regardless of how they are used such as firearms. However, most other objects qualify based upon their use.² The legislature's goal in the robbery statute would seem to be deter and punish those using weapons or deadly weapons to effectuate their robberies.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal submits that it is constrained by the plain and ordinary meaning of the work "carry." However, in the case Raulerson v. State, 763 So. 2d 285, 292 (Fla. 2000), this Court noted that "[o]ne of the most fundamental tenets of statutory construction requires that we give statutory language its plain and ordinary meaning, unless words are defined in the statute or by the clear intent of the

Of course, there are some potential "weapons" which as a matter of law do **not** qualify as discussed in <u>Houck</u>.

legislature. Quoting, Green v. State, 604 So. 2d 471, 473 (Fla. 1992)(emphasis added). It would seem clear that the legislature intended to deter robbers from either having or using a weapon. In its opinion in the instant case, the Fifth District Court of Appeal recognized the fact that the enhancement at issue is applicable by the mere carrying and that use was not required. See State v. Baker, 452 So. 2d 927 (Fla. 1984). However, when a defendant takes the extra step and actually does use the weapon, it would seem to be commonsense that the legislature intended for the enhancement to be applicable.

As already noted, it would appear clear that the legislature intended to increase the punishment for use of deadly weapons and not all weapons are carried. For example, someone could have a package of explosives and could use them to threaten and place fear in the victims while taking their property. example could be a dog trainer who threatens a victim with an attack dog in order to rob them. If a defendant used these deadly weapons to assist the commission of a robbery, he should not be rewarded by a lighter sentence based upon a statutory which construction clearly circumvents intent of the legislature.

The Defendant in this case was charged with use of a deadly weapon. It is undisputed that an automobile can be used as a deadly weapon. Furthermore, it is not even disputed that the Defendant's vehicle was so used in the instant case. The only argument is that this Court should take a formalistic

interpretation of the robbery statute which does not take into account legislative intent and which abandons a commonsense rendering of the statute. Upon seeing the victim being dragged by his automobile, the Defendant did not release the purse; instead, he used this object to attack the victim increasing his opportunity to complete his robbery. Clearly, the force, violence, and fear in the instant case were all exacerbated by the Defendant's use of the deadly weapon of his vehicle. Additionally, as recognized by the First District Court of Appeal, automobiles even fall under the definition of the word carry. Therefore, an automobile can be used as a deadly weapon, was so used, and meets the definition of statute. It is the position of the State that the Fifth District Court of Appeal's restrictive interpretation of the statute should be reversed by this Court.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented above, the State respectfully prays this Honorable Court reverse the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal and reinstate the decision of the trial court.