### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,	)
Petitioner/Appellee,	) )
versus	)
DANIEL J. BURRIS,	)
Respondent/Appellant.	)

S.CT. CASE NO. SC02-2193

DCA CASE NO. 5D01-1913

## ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

)

# MERIT BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

THOMAS LUKASHOW Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0871389 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 Phone: (386) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

###

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Respondent generally accepts the Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts as presented in the Merit Brief of the Petitioner.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Respondent was charged by information with using an automobile as a deadly weapon in commission of a robbery. However, Florida Statute Section 812.13(3)(a), requires that the weapon must be "carried" for the commission of the offense. Because the Respondent did not carry the vehicle during the commission of the crime he cannot be convicted of the offense. The Respondent contends that the State's position that a driver of an automobile is at the same time "carrying" the vehicle, is at odds with both the commonly accepted understanding of the term and legislative use of the term.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

## WHETHER THE MANNER IN WHICH THE RESPONDENT USED THE AUTOMOBILE IN COMMITTING THE ROBBERY QUALIFIES AS A DEADLY WEAPON UNDER THE ROBBERY STATUTE.

The issue presented in this case is whether under the robbery statute the

Respondent "carried" his automobile as a weapon or merely "used" it in

commission of the robbery.

The police report indicated the Appellant snatched the pocketbook from the

victim as he drove by in his vehicle and dragged her for an unknown distance

because the strap of the pocketbook was wrapped around her arm and neck. (Vol.

V, pages 41, 42) The car was not used to hit or run down the victim and in no

ordinary sense did he "carry" the car.

One of the most fundamental tenets of statutory construction requires that we give statutory language its plain and ordinary meaning, unless words are defined in the statute or by the clear intent of the legislature.

Green v. State, 604 So. 2d 471, 473 (Fla. 1992).

Florida Statutes Section 775.021(1) (2001) reads:

The provisions of this code and offenses defined by other statutes shall be strictly construed; when the language is susceptible of differing constructions, it shall be construed most favorably to the accused. Under the facts of this case, it cannot be said that the Appellant "carried" an automobile as the term is commonly understood and defined despite the State's assertion to the contrary and reliance on <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 662 So. 2d 1369 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1995). In <u>Jackson</u>, the court held that logic and common sense require that the verb "carry" has many meanings:

There is no question but that a motor vehicle may qualify as a "deadly weapon" if used as was the automobile in this case. E.g., <u>Williamson v. State</u>, 92 Fla. 980, 111 So. 124 (1926); <u>McCuller v. State</u>, 206 So. 2d 30 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA), <u>cert. denied</u>, 210 So. 2d 868 (Fla. 1968); <u>Solitro v. State</u>, 165 So. 2d 223 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964). Appellant does not argue to the contrary. Rather, as in the trial court, he contends that, because it is not physically possible for one to "carry" an automobile, the charge of armed robbery with a deadly weapon was legally insufficient, and should have been dismissed.

We agree with the trial court that the intended meaning of the word "carry", as used in Section 812.13(2)(a), must be sought by use of logic and common sense. The verb "carry" has many meanings. One of the principal meanings ascribed to it is "to wear, hold, or have around one, in the sense of possessing. The Random House Dictionary of the English Language 319 (2d Ed. 1987) (unabridged). We are the opinion that ascribing such a meaning to "carry", as used in Section 812.13(2)(a), is perfectly consistent with the obvious intent behind that statutory provision. <u>See</u>, e.g. <u>State v. Webb</u>, 398 So. 2d 820, 824 (Fla. 1981) ("legislative intent is to polestar by which the courts must be guided" in statutory construction, even when at odds with "the strict letter of the statute"). It seems to us that the clear intent behind Section 812.13(2)(a) is to deter the commission of robberies by persons possessing deadly weapons, and thereby to reduce the likelihood of death or serious injury to victims and bystanders. <u>See</u>, e.g., <u>State v. Baker</u>, 452 So. 2d 927 (Fla. 1984) (punishment is enhanced under statute for possession of deadly weapon during commission of offense; use of weapon is not necessary).

The First District's reliance on the Random House Dictionary appears to be

misplaced in suggesting it supports their view that "carry" means "to wear, hold, or

have around" in the sense of possessing.

The 1<sup>st</sup> edition of the unabridged Random House Dictionary of the English Language 227 (1st Ed. 1967) includes 49 definitions for the entry "carry." The first two definitions are as follows including example sentences in italics illustrating the meaning of the definitions:

1. To move while supporting convey transport: *He* carried her a mile in his arms. This elevator cannot carry more than 10 persons.

2. To wear, hold, or have around one: *He carries his change in his pocket. He carries a cane.* 

The First District's interpretation is not supported by the illustrative sentences provided by Random House. Following the First District's interpretation of "to have around one" and "carry" no one should be surprised to hear someone claim "I carried the elevator over 100 floors to the top of the Sears Tower," or "As

a fetus I carried my mother for nine months." The First District's eisegetical approach leads to absurdities when applied in other contexts. It is doubtful that any eyewitness to the instant offense would testify that the Respondent snatched the purse while "carrying" a pick-up truck. Following the First District's interpretation, the statement "The defendant was carrying a skateboard when he snatched the purse" could accurately describe a scenario where a defendant held a skateboard in one hand and grabbed the purse from the victim with the other hand or the statement could describe a scenario where the defendant rode by the victim on a skateboard as he snatched the purse. The Respondent contends that the use of the word "carry" does not accurately describe both of the above scenarios. The commonly accepted understanding of the word "carry" is at odds with the First District's definition and is not what the legislature intended. In its opinion in the instant case, the Fifth District Court of Appeal correctly recognized that the First District's interpretation of "carry" is "arcane" and that in common parlance. automobiles carry people - people do not carry automobiles. The car in this case was used as a means of conveyance to carry the Respondent to and from a robbery. The Respondent did not carry the vehicle.

The State cites <u>Raulerson v. State</u>, 763 So. 2d 285 (Fla. 2000), to suggest that the Fifth District Court of Appeal erroneously believed that the word "carry"

must be given its plain and ordinary meaning.

As pointed out by the State in <u>Raulerson</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court noted that:

[o]ne of the most fundamental tenets of statutory construction requires that we give statutory language its plain and ordinary meaning, unless words are defined in the statute or by the clear intent of the legislature.

Quoting, Green v. State, 604 So. 2d 471, 473 (Fla. 1992) (emphasis added).

However, contrary to the State's assertions, it is not clear that the intent of the legislature compels this Court to adopt an arcane definition of "carry". Judge Harris' dissent in Jenkins v. State, 747 So. 2d 997 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), which was quoted in part by the Fifth District in its opinion in this case, addresses the legislative intent issue.

In <u>Jackson</u>, an automobile was found to be a weapon when it was used to "run down the victim after which the victim's wallet was taken as he lay at the side of the road, seriously injured." Thus, in Jackson, the vehicle, purposely used to disable the victim, was held to be a weapon. Jackson, even though we may find the result desirable, should cause us some concern because it appears to be in conflict with our opinion in Houck, in which we held in a case involving the definition of a weapon that "penal statutes are to be strictly construed and any ambiguity therein is to be resolved in scope and application in favor of the accused." Jackson, on the other hand, held that regardless of the 'strict letter of the statute', the court should look for legislative intent that would not lead to "an absurd or unreasonable result". In this spirit, the <u>Jackson</u> court interpreted the term

"offender carried a weapon" as including the concept of the offender being carried by a weapon. If the offender "was wearing" the automobile while committing the offense then, according to <u>Jackson</u>, he "possessed" it and it was the fact that the offender possessed a weapon, not that he carried one, which was really of legislative concern. This liberal interpretation of the statute ignores the fact that the legislature may have chosen its terminology with care in order to limit the term "weapon" to the statutory definition contained in Chapter 790, Florida Statutes: "any dirk, metallic knuckles, slingshot, billie, tear gas gun, chemical weapon or destructive device, or other deadly weapon except a firearm or a common pocket knife" or, if not so limited, at least limited to weapons of similar characteristics. All of these items are capable of being <u>carried</u>, and if firearms (covered by a different section of the statute) are added to the mix, the legislature has by this provision banned all but the most exotic possibilities - planes, trains, and automobiles - as weapons. For example, a kitchen sink could qualify as a weapon if it was detached from its plumbing and carried during the robbery with the purpose to threaten or harm the victim. <u>Houck</u> inter- preted an enhancer provision which provided that a weapon could be determined from its use and held that any instrument "commonly recognized as having the purpose to inflict death or serious bodily injury upon another person" expanded the statutory list of weapons available for enhancement under that statute. Houck v. State, 634 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994). In our case, however, the legislature limited weapons to those subject to being carried. Because this interpretation is not per se unreasonable, the defendant is statutorily entitled to it.

Jenkins, supra at 1000, 1001.

There is no clear legislative intent expressed in the robbery statute to indicate

that the word "carry" includes the concept that people carry motor vehicles merely by using them.

In State v. Baker, 452 So. 2d 927 (Fla. 1984), this Court recognized a

distinction between "using" a weapon and "carrying" a weapon:

In virtually every case of armed robbery the deadly weapon carried by the perpetrator is the means by which he induces "force, violence, assault, or putting in fear", one of the elements of any robbery, armed or unarmed. However, the statutory element which enhances punishment for armed robbery is not the <u>use</u> of the deadly weapon, but the mere fact that a deadly weapon was <u>carried</u> by the perpetrator.

Baker, supra, at 929.

It is apparent that the words "use" and "carry" are not synonymous.

Section 775.02(1), Florida Statutes (2001), provides:

(1) The provisions of this code and offenses defined by other statutes shall be strictly construed; when the language is susceptible of constructions, it shall be construed most favorably to the accused.

Because there is no clear legislative intent that the word "carry" shall be

interpreted in a manner inconsistent with its plain and ordinary meaning, the

Respondent is entitled to have the robbery statute construed favorably to him. In

this circumstance, the most favorable construction in the Respondent's view, is

also in accord with the plain and ordinary meaning of the word.

This Court should affirm the Fifth District's interpretation of "carry."

#### **CONCLUSION**

BASED UPON the argument and authorities contained herein, Respondent